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 28 November 2023

Dear Sir 

Response to the Civil Aviation Authority’s (“CAA”) draft Terms of Reference (“ToR”) 
for the Independent Review of Heathrow Airport Limited’s (“HAL”) cost allocation 
methodology for Other Regulated Charges (“ORCs”) 

Our client: Pandox UK OpCp Ltd T/A Hilton Garden Inn London Heathrow Airport 

We act for Hilton Garden Inn Heathrow and write to provide comments on the CAA’s draft 
ToR for the above review. 

As CAA will know, Pandox and other ORC users have been concerned about the lack of 
transparency over ORC fixed costs for a number of years.  HAL has refused to give a 
detailed breakdown of the fixed costs that our client is asked to pay, citing the CAA decisions 
on H7 and Q6 as limiting the transparency they consider necessary.  Unless this review is 
able to tackle this lack of transparency, we have doubts as to the efficacy of the review. 

Scope of the independent review 

In the draft ToR the CAA appears to recognise the need for the independent review to 
identify and examine both the calculation and allocation of fixed costs, stating that the review 
will: 

“1. Determine whether the costs to which the cost allocation methodology applies have 
been sufficiently clearly and robustly identified, are appropriate and have been 
assessed at a reasonable level of detail to support a robust cost allocation 
methodology…” with the explicit aim of determining “whether the right costs are used 
in the methodology”; and 

“2. Assess HAL’s approach to the allocation of costs to each Specified Facility for 
which it charges ORCs.  This will determine whether the right costs are allocated to 
each Specified Facility”; and 
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“4. Assess the appropriateness of HAL’s approach to the allocation of fixed costs and     
“annuities” to each Specified Facility and between airline and non-airline users.”1  

Our client agrees with the scope of the review as outlined on the understanding that the 
costs which HAL identify as “fixed costs” are to be considered and verified as reasonable by 
the independent reviewer before they go on to consider the allocation methodology.  HAL’s 
calculations which relate to fixed costs must be made visible to stakeholders and to the CAA 
in order for there to be a meaningful assessment of their appropriateness and, in turn, the 
appropriateness of the contingent methodology. For example, there is no explanation of the 
electricity and water fixed costs, or why the charges appear to vary with respect to costs that 
are meant to be "fixed". 

HAL must similarly account for annuities if these are to be covered by the review; for 
example, by detailing the relevant assets (as contained in the asset register and RAB) base, 
the life of such any assets, depreciation profiles, and discount rates.   In addition, there 
should be transparency over any other costs of a fixed nature. 

Despite and contrary to the above, HAL have recently indicated that they do not consider it 
necessary for the review to examine the calculation of fixed costs at all, only their allocation.  
During a meeting between HAL and stakeholders on 6 November 2023 and in subsequent 
correspondence, HAL stated that fixed costs “have essentially been fixed,” having been 
“determined by the CAA (albeit based upon numbers provided by Heathrow)” as part of the 
H7 decision and incorporated at table 8.2 of the decision document.2   

Table 8.2 of the H7 document (extracted below) contains figures for the years spanning 
2022 to 2026 but gives no detail on how these figures have been calculated.  The £18 
million of “non-airline costs”, which seems to form the basis of HAL’s ORCs calculations, in 
particular needs to be accounted for. 

 

In previous correspondence HAL have also referred to the Q6 decision to explain their 
calculation of fixed costs, specifically Figure G.4 of CAP1151 which dates to 2014 (extracted 
below).3  Our client considers that this table is too outdated to be relevant to current pricing 

 

1 Ibid., p. 4 

2 CAP2524C, p. 66 - Economic regulation of Heathrow Airport: H7 Final Proposals Section 2: Building Blocks (caa.co.uk) 

3 CAP 1151: Economic regulation at Heathrow from April 2014: Notice granting the licence (caa.co.uk), p. 278 
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models.  In any case Figure G.4 also fails to explain the underlying figures behind the 
forecasts given. 

 

HAL has been challenged on the above on multiple occasions and as yet have provided no 
further information on fixed costs besides the two tables above, in direct contradiction to their 
own principles of transparency and cost reflectivity.4  The end result is that our client and 
other stakeholders are being asked to pay costs which, in some cases, are many times the 
market rate without explanation or justification.  This is clearly unsatisfactory. 

Furthermore, as per your letter to us dated 27 September 2023, we are aware that the CAA 
has chosen not to undertake “a detailed “bottom-up” cost investigation or benchmarking 
exercise….as this was not considered a proportionate response to setting the overall ORCs 
framework for a five year price control process.”  In your letter you remark that owing to our 
client’s concerns surrounding ORCs, “we decided that the appropriate way for the CAA to 
further the interests of consumers was to require HAL to facilitate the one-off independent 
review.”   

As per our letter dated 23 October 2023, we do not agree that such an investigation would 
be disproportionate, but in any event it is clear that an independent review will not achieve 
that aim or be effective if HAL continue in their failure to provide the relevant information.  
Based on recent conversations it would appear that this is their intention.  If the CAA has 
decided that the independent review is the appropriate mechanism with which to address the 
issue of fixed costs, it must ensure that the ToR are drafted so as to compel transparency 
from HAL around fixed costs and ensure that the reasonableness of those costs is 

 
4 CAP2591, p. 13 
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considered independently.  If it fails to do this, the CAA will be falling short of its regulatory 
duties, and in particular its duty to protect the interests of consumers who will ultimately bear 
the cost of HAL’s regime. 

HAL’s license conditions are also relevant to the issue.  Condition 2.4 states that:  

“The Licensee shall facilitate and pay for an independent review of the 
appropriateness of the cost allocation methodology to validate that the cost allocation 
methodology ensures that the costs of the Specified Facilities are allocated between 
airlines and non-airline users of the Specified Facilities on a fair and reasonable basis.”   

It is unclear how the CAA can be assured of the “appropriateness” of HAL’s cost allocation 
methodology without assessment or even disclosure of the underlying cost calculations.  
Condition C2.5 further requires HAL to disclose: 

“to [the CAA] and users of the Specified Facilities statements of the actual costs it has 
incurred and the revenues it has generated in respect of each of the Specified 
Facilities for the preceding Regulatory Year in a form, and to a sufficient degree of 
detail, as set out in the governance arrangements, to enable the CAA and users of the 
Specified Facilities to be reasonably satisfied that the charges that the Licensee 
proposes to apply to the Specified Facilities are derived in accordance with the cost 
allocation methodology.”   

As explained above HAL have not provided a breakdown of their actual costs “to a sufficient 
degree of detail” in accordance with this license condition and the CAA should be willing as 
regulator to enforce this condition.  Again, amending the ToR accordingly would be an 
appropriate means of ensuring transparency on HAL’s part and the appropriateness of any 
consequent methodology. 

Other issues 

Finally, our client does not consider it appropriate in the circumstances for HAL to appoint 
the independent reviewer, even with “engagement with the CAA and ORC users.”5  Given 
the protracted nature of the discussions around ORCs and stakeholders’ concerns around 
transparency, the CAA should itself ensure that an appropriate person is identified for this 
role in consultation with all parties.  

Conclusion 

We therefore ask that the draft ToR be amended.  The final ToR should make it clear that 
the independent review will cover both the calculation and allocation of fixed costs and 
require the disclosure by HAL of all relevant calculations which have so far fed into their 
estimation of fixed costs (and in particular the £18 million figure set out in Table 8.2 above).     

We remind you of the CAA’s wider powers as granted by s. 60 of the Civil Aviation Act 2012 
to act concurrently to the Competition and Markets Authority in ensuring that no market 
feature “prevents, restricts, or distorts competition” in the UK.6  The energy costs charged to 
our client according to HAL’s framework, at several times the market rate, patently prevent, 
restrict, and distort competition in relation to the provision of airport services at Heathrow 
Airport.  

Please also confirm that the CAA will itself ensure that an appropriate reviewer is identified.   

 
5 Ibid., p. 1 

6 s. 60 Civil Aviation Act 2012; in conjunction with s. 131 Enterprise Act 2002. 
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Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
Mills & Reeve LLP 
enc 
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Kind regards 

 

Carlton 

 

 

Carlton Brown 

Chief Financial Officer 
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